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A.  Los Pronombres Personales (Subject Pronounns) 
 
 Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     I      Nosotros     we           
Nosotras     we (fem.) 

Segunda persona Tú      you (familiar) 
 

Vosotros      you - Spain 
Vosotras      you (fem.) 

Tercera persona Él      he 
Ella   she 
Ud.    you (formal) 

Ellos             they (masc.) 
Ellas             they (fem.) 
Uds.              you - México 

 

• Note the accent marks over tú [to distinguish it from tu meaning “your”] and él [to 
distinguish it from el meaning “the”].  

• Subject pronouns are used as the subject of a verb. 

  Yo prefiero coca cola.  -  I prefer coca cola 

• The vosotros form is used as the plural of tú in Spain; in México and Latin 
America ustedes is used as the second person plural, both familiar and plural.  

 ¿Cómo estáis vosotros?  -  How are you all doing? (Spain, familiar) 

 ¿Cómo están ustedes?  -  How are you all doing? (Spain, formal plural;  
    México/Latin America, both formal and familiar plural) 

• The masculine forms nosotros, vosotros, and ellos are used when referring 
to a group of males and females; the feminine forms nosotras, vosotras, and 
ellas are used only when the group consists entirely of females. 

  Nosotras estamos cansadas.  -  We are tired. (all female) 

 RECUERDA: Ud. = Usted (you formal singular) 

    Uds. = Ustedes (you plural) 

 

 

 Ud. = You dude   Uds. = You dudes 
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B. El Presente - Verbos regulares (ar, er, ir) 
 

• All Spanish verbs belong to one of three different conjugations according to the 
ending of the infinitive.  

• An Infinitive is a verb that has not been conjugated - to speak, to run, to live. 
 

• Each conjugation in Spanish has its own set of endings.  In order to conjugate a 
verb in the present tense, eliminate the ar, er and ir from the infinitive form and 
add the following endings: 

 
 

First conjugation (-ar) o, as, a, amos, áis, an 
 
Infinitive - hablar Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      hablo Nosotros      hablamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      hablas 
 

Vosotros      habláis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       habla 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             hablan 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

Second conjugation (-er) o, es, e, emos, éis, en 
 
Infinitive - correr Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      corro Nosotros      corremos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      corres 
 

Vosotros      corréis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       corre 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             corren 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

Third conjugation (-ir) o, es, e, imos, ís, en 
 
Infinitive - vivir Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      vivo Nosotros      vivimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      vives 
 

Vosotros      vivís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       vive 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             viven 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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Some common irregular verbs: ir, ser, estar, tener, hacer, dar 
 
 
Infinitive - ir - to go Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      voy Nosotros      vamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      vas 
 

Vosotros      vais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       va 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            van 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - dar - to give Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      doy Nosotros      damos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      das 
 

Vosotros      dais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       da 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            dan 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - ser - to be Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     soy Nosotros      somos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      eres 
 

Vosotros      sois 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       es 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             son 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - estar - to be Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      estoy Nosotros      estamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      estás 
 

Vosotros      estáis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       está 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             están 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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Infinitive - tener - to have Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     tengo Nosotros      tenemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      tienes 
 

Vosotros      tenéis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       tiene 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             tienen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - hacer - to 
do/make 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo      hago Nosotros      hacemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      haces 
 

Vosotros      hacéis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       hace 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             hacen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 
 
C. Uses of the Present Tense 
 

• There are four possible translations for the present. They are: 
 
 
  HABLO  I speak 
     I do speak / Do I speak? 
     I am speaking / Am I speaking? 
     I will speak (near future - tonight, tomorrow…) 
 

• The construction hace + expression of time + que + verb (conjugated according 
to the subject) in the present is used to designate actions that began in the past 
but continue into the present. 

 
 Hace dos años que estudio español.  
 I have been studying Spanish for two years. (I am still studying Spanish) 
 
 ¿Cuánto tiempo hace que vives en McFarland? 
 How long have you been living in McFarland? (You still live in McFarland) 
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D. Stem changing verbs “Verbos Botas” 
 

• Stem changing verbs that end in -ar or -er change the stem vowel in the present 
in two possible ways: e > ie or o > ue in all forms except nosotros and vosotros. 

 
 
Infinitive - pensar - to 
think 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo     pienso Nosotros      pensamos     
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      piensas 
 

Vosotros      pensáis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       piensa 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             piensan 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -querer - to want Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     quiero Nosotros      queremos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      quieres 
 

Vosotros      queréis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       quiere 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             quieren 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -poder - to be 
able to, can 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo     puedo Nosotros      podemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      puedes 
 

Vosotros      podéis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       puede 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             pueden 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -volver - to 
return (to a place) 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo     vuelvo Nosotros      volvemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      vuelves 
 

Vosotros      volvéis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       vuelve 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             vuelven 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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• Stem changing verbs that end in -ir change the stem vowel in the present in three 
possible ways: e > ie, o > ue or e >i in all forms except nosotros and vosotros. 

 
 
Infinitive -mentir - to lie Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     miento Nosotros      mentimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      mientes 
 

Vosotros      mentís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       miente 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             mienten 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -dormir -to sleep Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     duermo Nosotros      dormimos     
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      duermes 
 

Vosotros      dormís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       duerme 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             duermen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -morir - to die Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     muero Nosotros      morimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      mueres 
 

Vosotros      morís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       muere 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             mueren 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -servir - to serve  Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo     sirvo Nosotros      servimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      sirves 
 

Vosotros      servís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       sirve 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             sirven 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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E. The present conjugations of irregular verbs. 
 

• The following verbs have an irregular first person singular form in the present 
that ends in “go”. All the other forms are regular. 

 
VERBOS “GO” 

YO-GO verbs:  “YO” form: Other forms: 
caer:  to fall 
 

caigo caes, cae, caemos, caéis, 
caen 

hacer: to do/make hago (regular) 
poner: to put pongo (regular) 
salir: to leave/go out  salgo (regular) 
traer: to bring traigo (regular) 
 

• These “YO-GO” verbs are irregular in other forms: 
 
 
YO-GO verbs:  “YO” form: Other forms: 
decir:  to say/tell 
 

digo dices, dice, decimos, 
decís, dicen 

tener: to have tengo tienes, tiene, tenemos, 
tenéis, tienen (“bota”) 

venir: to come vengo vienes, viene, venimos, 
venís, vienen (“bota”) 

seguir: to follow  sigo sigues, sigue, seguimos, 
seguís, siguen (“bota”) 

oír: to hear oigo oyes, oye, oímos, oís, 
oyen 

 
 

• Other irregular verbs: Saber and Conocer are irregular only in the “YO” form 
 
 
YO- irregular verbs:  “YO” form: Other forms: 
saber:  to know facts/info.  
 

sé sabes, sabe, sabemos, 
sabéis, saben 

conocer: to know 
someone, to be familiar 
with someone/something 

conozco conoces, conoce, 
conocemos, concéis, 
conocen 
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• Other irregulars: 
 
Infinitive - ver: to see Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      veo Nosotros      vemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      ves 
 

Vosotros      veis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       ve 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             ven 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - reír: to laugh 
(acentos) 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo      río Nosotros      reímos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      ríes 
 

Vosotros      reís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       ríe 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             ríen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
VERBOS -UIR- “YO” 

Infinitive - incluir: to 
include (Y) 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo      incluyo Nosotros      incluimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      incluyes 
 

Vosotros      incluís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       incluye 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             incluyen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
VERBOZ -CER/CIR- “ZCO” 

Infinitive -conducir: to 
drive/conduct (“ZC”) 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo      conduzco Nosotros      conducimos     
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      conduces 
 

Vosotros      conducís 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       conduce 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             conducen 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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VERBOZ -GER/GIR- “JO” 

Infinitive -escoger: to 
choose (“j”) 

Singular Plural 

Primera persona 
 

Yo      escojo Nosotros      escogemos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      escoges 
 

Vosotros      escogéis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       escoge 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             escogen 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
• The uses of “Ser” 
 

1. Ser is used with many phrases with “de” to express origin, possession and 
    material (what something is made of). 
 
• origin - Soy de Italia.  ¿De dónde es Ud.? 
• posesión - El coche es de Juan.  ¿De quién es esta camisa? 
• material - La mesa es de madera (wood).  ¿Es de plástico el marcador? 

 
2. Ser is used before adjectives that indicate inherent qualities such as nationality, age, 
    personality, religion and color.  These adjectives indicate that the condition expressed 
    by the adjective does not result from a change. 
 

• Mis amigos son mexicanos. My friends are Mexican.  
• El presidente Obama es joven. President Obama is young. 
• Uds. son muy altos.   You (pl.) are very tall. 
• El profesor es inteligente.  The teacher is intelligent. 
• Mi novia es católica.  My girlfriend is catholic. 
• Nuestra casa es verde.  Our house is green. 

 
3. Ser is used to link nouns and pronouns. Unlike English, Spanish eliminates the 
    indefinite articles un/una with a profession. 
 

• El Sr. Genova es professor. Señor Genova is a teacher. 
• Ellos son mis amigos.  They are my friends. 

 
4. Ser is used to express time (i.e. hour, days and dates) and where an event takes 
    place. 
 

• ¿Qué hora es?   What time is it? 
• Son las seis de la mañana. It is six in the morning. 
• ¿Cuál es la fecha de hoy?  What is today’s date? 
• Hoy es el cuatro de julio.  Today is the Fourth of July. 
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• ¿Qué día es hoy?   What day is today? 
• Hoy es viernes.   Today is Friday 
• ¿El baile es en la escuela?  Is the dance at school? 
• No, es en el Hotel Hilton.  No, it is at the Hilton Hotel. 

 
 

• The uses of “Estar” 
 
1. Estar is used to express location or position of a person, place or thing 
 

• Caracas está en Venezuela. Caracas is in Venezuela. 
• El perro está en la cocina.  The dog is in the kitchen 

 
2. Estar is used before adjectives to indicate that the condition expressed by the 
    adjective results from a change. Estar may also indicate that the adjective is the 
    subjective impression (opinion) of the speaker. Estar is commonly used with 
    adjectives that describe a mental or physical state. 
 

• ¿Cómo están Uds.?   How are you (pl.)? 
• Estamos cansados.   We are (feeling) tired. 
• La ventana está cerrada.  The window is closed. 
• Tu novia está bonita hoy.  Your girlfriend is pretty today. (looks pretty 
                to me) 
 

3. Estar is used to form the Present Progressive. Estar + Present Participle (ando/iendo) 
 

• Ellos están durmiendo.  They are sleeping. 
• Él está comiendo toda la pizza. He is eating the whole pizza. 

 
4. Some adjective change meaning depending on whether ser or estar is used.  
 

• Juan es guapo.   Juan is handsome. 
 Juan está guapo.   Juan looks handsome to me. 
 
• José es nervioso.   José is a nervous person. 
 José está nervioso.  José is nervous (feeling nervous) 
 
• Tu amigo es aburrido.  Your friend is boring. 
 Tu amigo está aburrido.  Your friend is bored. 
 
• Mi amiga es lista.   My friend is clever/quick. 
 Mi amiga está lista.   My friend is ready. 
 
• Ese hombre es vivo.  That man is lively/sharp. 
 Ese hombre está vivo.  That man is alive. 
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• Paco es bueno.   Paco is good (is a good boy). 
 La torta está buena.  The cake is good (tastes good). 
 
• La casa de Julia es verde.  Julia’s house is green (color). 
 La naranja está verde.  The orange is not ripe. 
 
• María es rica.   María is rich. ($$) 
 La sopa está rica.   The soup is delicious. 
 
• El niño es seguro.   The boy is safe 
 El niño está seguro.  The boy is sure. 
 
 
• Common expressions with “SER” 

 
• ¿Cómo es Ud.?   What are you like? 

 
• ¿Cuá es la fecha de hoy?  What is today’s date? 

 
• ¿Cuál es su nacionalidad?  What is your nationality? 

 
• ¿De dónde es Ud.?   Where are you from? 

 
• ¿De que color es…?  What color is…? 

 
• ¿Qué hora es?   What time is it? 

 
• ¿De quién es…?   Whose ….is it? 

 
• Es que…    The fact is that… 

 
 

• Common expressions with “ESTAR” 
 

• ¿Cómo está Ud.?   How are you? 
 

• Estar de acuerdo con…  To agree with… 
 

• Estar de vacaciones  To be on vacation 
 

• Estar seguro-a-os-as  To be sure 
 

• Estar muerto-a-os-as  To be dead 
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• Adjetivos (Adjectives)  
 

• Adjectives in Spanish must agree with gender (masculine/feminine) and number 
 (singular/plural). 
 

• Basic patterns of adjective agreement: 
 

Adjetivo masc. singular fem. singular masc. plural fem. plural 
tall alto alta altos altas 
sad triste triste tristes tristes 

popular popular popular populares populares 
happy feliz feliz felices felices 
easy fácil fácil fáciles fáciles 

optimistic optimista optimista optimistas optimistas 
 
 
• Mi primo Juan es alto pero mi prima María es muy baja. 
      My cousin Juan is tall, but my cousin María is very short. 
 
• Mis hermanos son muy estúpidos. No entienden nada. 
      My brothers are very stupid. They don’t understand anything. 
 
• Tu novio es pesimista. Siempre está triste. 
      Your boyfriend is pessimistic. He is always sad. 
 
• Esta prueba es fácil, pero las pruebas de química son difíciles. 
      This quiz is easy, but the chemistry quizzes are difficult. 
 
• Mi amigo y su novia están locos. Salen todas las noches. 
      My friend and his girlfriend are crazy. They go out every night. 
 
** When you are describing a masculine and a feminine subject in the same 
    sentence, in Spanish, the adjective is always masculine. 
 
 
• Some adjectives have a shortened form when placed in front of a singular, 

masculine noun. 
 
• Bueno - Hoy es un buen día. 

 
• Malo - Hoy es un mal día. 

 
• Primero - Hoy es el primer día de enero. 

 
• Tercero - Hoy es el tercer día de febrero. 
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• Gustar and other verbs like gustar. 
 

• Gustar (to please) is used to express “to like” and is preceded by an indirect 
object pronoun. Gustar agrees with the subject of the sentence, which usually 
follows the verb (gustar).  If the subject (the object that is liked) is singular, “gusta” 
is used. If the subject is plural, “gustan” is used.  “Gusta” is always used when it 
is followed by an infinitive. (hablar, correr, escribir…) 

 
• Examples: 

 
     a. Me gusta la casa de Elisa. (since casa is singular, gusta is used) 
 
     b. ¿Te gustan mis zapatos?  (since zapatos is plural, gustan is used) 
 
     c. Nos gusta nadar en la piscina.  (gusta is used in this example because it is 
         followed by the infinitive nadar)  
 
Indirect object pronouns: 
 
me    to me (a mí) 
 
te    to you (a ti) 
 
le    to him (a él) 
    to her (a ella) 
    to you (formal - masc./fem.  a Ud.) 
 
nos   to us (a nosotros) 
 
os    to you (plural - a vosotros - used in Spain) 
 
les    to them (a ellos) 
    to them (a ellas) 
    to you (plural - a Uds. - used in Mexico) 
 
• A mí, a ti and a nosotros is optional when expressing: I like, you like and we like. 

 
           (A mí) me gustan mis clases.  
           (A ti) no te gusta nuestro profesor. 
 (A nosotros) no nos gusta trabajar durante la semana. 
 
 

• Since “le” is used to describe what is pleasing to him, her or you (Ud.-masc./fem.), 
and “les” is used to describe what is pleasing to them (ellos/ellas) and you plural 
(Uds.), they must be clarified by using: a + the indirect object (él, ella, Juan, ellos, 
mis amigas…) 
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• A mi amigo le gustan los tacos de Taco Timbre (Bell). 

 
• A Bárbara le gusta leer novelas de amor. 

 
• A tus amigos no les gusta la cena que preparé. 

 
• ¿Les gusta viajar a Uds.? 

 
 

***If we were to say: No les gusta la cena que preparé.  We would not know who les 
     was referring to.  That is why we need to clarify by adding - “A tus amigos”. 
 
*** Recuerda: “Lesle” necesita una “A”.  (Lesle = Le<>les) 
 
 

• Encantar y Doler 
 

• Encantar = to love an object, to love to do something. 
 

• Me encantan tus pantalones. 
      I love your pants. 

 
A María le encanta tu pelo. 
María loves your hair. 
 
Nos encanta volar. 
We love to fly. 
 

• Doler = to hurt (something is painful to…) 
 
       Me duele el estómago. 
                 My stomach hurts. 
 
       A Juan le duelen las piernas. 
       Juan’s legs hurt. 
 
       A ellos les duelen los brazos. 
       Their arms hurt. 
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• Direct Object Pronouns 

 
• Direct objects tell “who” or “what” received the action of the verb. They answer 

the question “who?” or “what?” about the verb.  Direct object pronouns replace 
the direct objects and agree with them in gender and number. 

 
• Recuerda: a noun is a person, place or thing. A pronoun takes the place of a 

noun. 
 

• Los pronombres directos 
 
me    me nos     us 
te     you os       you (pl. - Spain) 
lo     him, it, you(sir) 
la     her, it, you (mam) 

los      them(masc.),you(pl.) 
las      them(fem.), you(pl.) 

 
 

• Do you know Juan?  Juan = direct object (“who”) 
• Yes I know him.  him = direct object pronoun that replaces “Juan” 

 
• ¿Conoces a Juan?  Juan = direct object  
• Sí, lo conozco.  “lo” = direct object pronoun that replaces “Juan” 

 
• Do you have my books? books = direct object (“what”) 
• Yes, I have them.  “them” = pronoun that replaces “books” 

 
• ¿Tienes mis libros?  “libros = direct object (“what”) 
• No, no los tengo.  “los” = pronoun that replaces “libros” 

 
• Position of direct object pronouns 

 
• Pronouns are placed before the conjugated verb when there is only one verb in 

the sentence. ¿Conoces a Juan?   Sí, lo conozco. 
 

• When there are two verbs in the sentence, one conjugated and one infinitive, the 
pronoun can go before the conjugated verb or attached to the infinitive. 

 
     ¿Quieres ver la película?  Sí, la quiero ver o Sí quiero verla. 
     ¿Van a hacer la tarea Uds.?  No, no la vamos a hacer. o Sí, vamos a hacerla. 
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• Indirect Object Pronouns 
 

• Indirect objects tell “to/for whom” or “to/for what” something is done. They 
answer the question “to/for whom?” or “to/for what?” and sometimes “from 
whom?” They are the persons, or things, to whom something is said or done. 
Indirect object pronouns replace the indirect objects. 

 
• Los pronombres indirectos (como “Gustar”) 

 
me    to/for me nos     to/for us 
te     to/for you os       to/for you (pl. - Spain) 
le     to/for him, it, you(sir) 
le     to/for her, it, you (mam) 

les      to/for them(masc./fem.) 
les      to/for you(pl.) 

 

• In a sentence with an indirect object, there is always a direct object, either 
stated or implied.  In the sentence “I always give him the keys” - “the keys” is 
the direct object and “him” is the indirect object.  Think of “the keys” as the 
thing(s) and “him” as the destination (where the keys are going). In the 
sentence “I write her every month” - “her” is the indirect object because I write 
to her. The direct object is implied in this case because I write “something” - a 
letter, a note, a poem…   

• Note that “le” and “les” are used as both masculine and feminine indirect 
pronouns. “Le” is used for “him, her and you formal” and “les” is used for “them 
and you plural” In order to clarify who you are talking about, add “a + noun or 
subject pronoun”.  In the sentences: “Yo siempre le doy las llaves” and “Yo les 
mando regalos cada Navidad” both “le” and “les” are not clear because they 
represent a number of possibilities (le=him/her/you, les=them/you plural).  For 
clarity, “Yo siempre le doy las llaves a él” and “Yo les mando regalos a las 
niñas cada Navidad” we add “a él” and “a las niñas”. 

• Note that “me, te and nos” each have only one possibility = “me, you and us” 
and therefore do not need clarification.  In the sentence “Él me dice mentiras” - 
He tells lies to me. “To me” is the only possibility and therefore does not need 
clarification.  

• Indirect object pronouns take the same position as the direct object pronouns.  
Please review position of direct object pronouns. 

RECUERDA - We only need to clarify for “LE and LES”.  We do so by adding “a + noun 
or subject pronoun. 

Mi amigo le da flores a su novia.  ¿Les vas a mandar el regalo a tus padres?  

LESLE necesita una “A” 
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• Verbos Reflexivos 

 
• In Spanish, reflexive verbs always have a reflexive pronoun (me, te, se, nos, 

os, se) that refers the action of the verb back to subject or person doing the 
action. 

 
      Yo me afeito. I shave. (I shave myself) 
 
      Ella se viste.  She gets dressed.  (She dresses herself) 
 

• Reflexive pronouns take the same position as the direct and indirect object  
             pronouns.  When it is used as an infinitive, you can place the pronoun before 
             the conjugated verb or attached to the infinitive (one word) 
 
      Ella quiere levantarse ahora. 
        She wants to get up now. 
     Ella se quiere levantar ahora. 
 

• The infinitive of reflexive verbs always ends in se.  ducharse, bañarse, vestirse… 
 

• In order to conjugate the verb, take the infinitive - ducharse - eliminate the se and 
conjugate “duchar”.  Remember to place the reflexive pronoun before the verb. 

 
• When a statement is negative, no comes before the reflexive pronoun. 

 
       Él no se quiere duchar.   He does not want to shower. 
 
 
Primera persona 
 

Yo   me ducho   Nosotros   nos duchamos        
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú   te duchas      
 

Vosotros   os ducháis       
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él        
Ella   se ducha 
Ud. 

Ellos              
Ellas   se duchan 
Uds. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 18



• El Pretérito (The preterit) 
 

• “El pretérito” is used to express actions or events completed in the past. 
 

• In order to conjugate a verb in the preterit tense, eliminate the ar, er and ir from 
the infinitive form and add the following endings: 

 
• Note that “er” and “ir” verbs have the same endings: í, iste, ió, imos isteis, 

ieron 
 
 

First conjugation (-ar) é, aste, ó, amos, asteis, aron 
 
Infinitive - hablar Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      hablé Nosotros      hablamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      hablaste 
 

Vosotros      hablasteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       habló 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             hablaron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

  
Second conjugation (-er) í, iste, ió, imos, isteis, ieron 

 
Infinitive - correr Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      corrí Nosotros      corrimos     
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      corriste, 
 

Vosotros      corristeis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       corrió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             corrieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

Third conjugation (-ir) í, iste, ió, imos, isteis, ieron 
 
Infinitive - vivir Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      viví Nosotros      vivimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      viviste 
 

Vosotros      vivisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       vivió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             vivieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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• El Pretérito - Verbs with Spelling Changes 
 

CAR - GAR - ZAR -  YO YO YO 
 

• Verbs that end in car, gar, and zar have the following changes only in the 
YO form.  CAR > qué GAR > gué  ZAR > cé 

• Note that are no “boot verbs” in the preterit (jugar, empezar) as in the 
present tense. 

• Also note that verbs that end in CAR, GAR, ZAR are all AR verbs and 
therefore take the AR endings: é, aste, ó, amos, asteis, aron 

 
 
 
Infinitive - tocar Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      toqué Nosotros      tocamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     tocaste 
 

Vosotros      tocasteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       tocó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             tocaron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 
Infinitive - jugar Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      jugué Nosotros      jugamos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     jugaste 
 

Vosotros      jugasteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       jugó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            jugaron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 
Infinitive - empezar Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      empecé Nosotros     empezamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     empezaste 
 

Vosotros      empezasteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      empezó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             empezaron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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• El Pretérito - Verbos ZAPATILLAS (slipper verbs) 
 

• “IR” boot verbs in the present tense also change in the preterit in the 3rd person 
singular and plural forms.  The e >i, and the o>u. 

 
Third conjugation (-ir) í, iste, ió, imos, isteis, ieron 

 
Infinitive - pedir (e>i) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      pedí Nosotros      pedimos      
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      pediste 
 

Vosotros      pedisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       pidió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             pidieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

• Note that if there are two “e”s in the infinitive, you change the one closest to the 
infinitive ending “ir” (repetir - the second one).   

 
 
Infinitive - repetir  (e>i) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      repetí Nosotros      repetimos    
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      repetiste 
 

Vosotros     repetisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él       repitió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            repitieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 
 
Infinitive - dormir (o>u) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      dormí Nosotros      dormimos     
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú      dormiste 
 

Vosotros      dormisteis 
Vosotras  

Tercera persona Él       durmió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             durmieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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• El Pretérito - Verbos “Y” 
 

• The verbs caer, creer, leer and oír.   In the preterit, “er and ir” verbs whose 
stems end in a vowel (a,e,i,o,u), change the endings in the 3rd person singular and 
plural “i > y”.  In the verbs listed above, you also need to add an accent on every 
form except in the Uds. form. 

 
Example:  caió > cayó  caieron > cayeron 

 
 

Infinitive - oír (to hear) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      oí Nosotros    oímos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     oíste 
 

Vosotros      oísteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      oyó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             oyeron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

Infinitive - caer (to fall) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      caí Nosotros     caímos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     caíste 
 

Vosotros      caísteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      cayó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             cayeron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - leer (to read) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      leí Nosotros     leímos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     leíste 
 

Vosotros      leísteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      leyó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             leyeron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive -creer (to believe) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      creí Nosotros     creímos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     creíste 
 

Vosotros      creísteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      creyó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             creyeron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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• Verbs that end in “uir” (incluir, huir, construir…) also change the “i” to “y” in the 
3rd person singular and plural, but only have an accent in the YO form and Ud. 
form. 

 
 
 
Infinitive - incluir (to include) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      incluí Nosotros     incluimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     incluiste 
 

Vosotros      incluisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      incluyó 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             incluyeron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

• Note that it does not include verbs like “seguir, conseguir…” These are slipper 
verbs. 

 
Infinitive - seguir (to follow) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      seguí Nosotros     seguimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     seguiste 
 

Vosotros      seguisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      siguió 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             siguieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 
 

• Pretérito - Super Irregulares  (NO ACENTOS) 
 

• The following verbs are irregular.  Note that these verbs do not have accents. 
 
Infinitive - ser (to be) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      fui Nosotros     fuimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     fuiste 
 

Vosotros      fuisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      fue 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             fueron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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Infinitive - ir (to go) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      fui Nosotros     fuimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     fuiste 
 

Vosotros      fuisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      fue 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             fueron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - dar (to give) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      di Nosotros     dimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     diste 
 

Vosotros      disteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      dio 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             dieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - ver (to see) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      vi Nosotros     vimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     viste 
 

Vosotros      visteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      vio 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             vieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
Infinitive - hacer (to do/make) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      hice Nosotros     hicimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     hiciste 
 

Vosotros      hicisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      hizo 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             hicieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

• Note that in the Uds. form of “hacer” the C changes to Z.  (C > Z) 
 

“Zorro no hizo la tarea” 
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• The following verbs can be categorized in different groups: 
 
 

El Grupo “U” (PPATCHES) 
 

Poner… pus- (put) 
 
Poder… pud- (able to)     e 
 
Andar… anduv- (walked)    iste     
 
Tener… tuv- (had/got)     o 
     
Caber… cup- (fit)      imos 
 
Haber… hub- (was/were)    isteis 
 
Estar… estuv- (was)     ieron 
 
Saber… sup- (found out) 
 
 
Infinitive - poder (to be able to) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      pude Nosotros     pudimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     pudiste 
 

Vosotros      pudisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      pudo 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             pudieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 
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El Grupo “I” 
 

 
Querer… quis- 
 quis- (tried/wanted) 
   no quis- (refused)        (same endings as  
            above) 
Venir… vin- (came)   
 
Hacer… hic- (did/made) 
 
Infinitive - hacer (to do/make) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      hice Nosotros     hicimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     hiciste 
 

Vosotros      hicisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      hizo 
Ella 
Ud.   (“Z”) 

Ellos             hicieron 
Ellas 
Uds. 

 
 

El Grupo “J” 
 

         e 
 
Decir… dij- (said/told)     iste    
  
Traer… traj- (brought)     o     
     
Producir… produj- (produced)    imos 
 
Conducir… conduj- (drove/conducted))  isteis 
 
Traducir… traduj- (translated)    eron *** 
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Infinitive - traer (to bring) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      traje Nosotros     trajimos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     trajiste 
 

Vosotros      trajisteis 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      trajo 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos             trajeron 
Ellas 
Uds.             (NO “I”) 

 
 

*** Note that in the Uds. form of the “J” group, the “I” is replaced by the 
     “J”. There is no “i”  in trajeron. 

 
 
Recuerda: 
 
• The coffee did not fit in the “cup”. 
• I found out about the fly in the “sup”. 
• My boyfriend tried to “quis” me. 
• I refused/did not want to “quis” him. (no quise) 
• Vinny came with the wine. (Vinny vino con el vino.) 
• Zorro no hizo la tarea. 
• Yo traje mi traje de baño. (I brought my swim suit) 
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• El Imperfecto (The imperfect tense) 

 
• The imperfect tense is used to describe what was going on in the past.  It usually 

does not have any reference to the beginning or the end of the action that was 
happening in the past.  Mi hermana dormía. (My sister was sleeping.)  It is also 
used to describe persons, things and events in the past, as well as time, age and 
the weather. 

 
• The imperfect tense is conjugated by eliminating the “ar, er, and ir” of the infinitive 

and by adding the following endings: “AR” - aba, abas, aba, ábamos, abais, aban.  
“ER/IR” - ía, ías, ía, íamos, íais, ían. 

 
• Note that there are only three irregular verbs in the Imperfect Tense.  All verbs are 

conjugated in the same way.  (There are no “boot verbs, zapatillas… ☺) 
 

 
Infinitive - hablar (to talk/speak) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      hablaba Nosotros     hablábamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     hablabas 
 

Vosotros      hablabais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      hablaba 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            hablaban 
Ellas 
Uds.              

 
Infinitive - comer (to eat) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      comía Nosotros     comíamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     comías 
 

Vosotros      comíais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      comía 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            comían 
Ellas 
Uds.              

 
Infinitive - vivir (to live) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      vivía Nosotros     vivíamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     vivías 
 

Vosotros    vivíais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      vivía 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            vivían 
Ellas 
Uds.              
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• Note that there is an accent in the NOSOTROS form of AR verbs, and an 
accent on all the “I”s of all of the “ER and IR” verbs. 

• Also note that YO, ÉL, ELLA and Ud. forms are conjugated the same way.  
Subject pronouns should be used, if necessary, to clarify the meaning of the 
verb. 

 
 In the sentence: Hablaba con el Sr. G. - The verb “hablaba” does not tell us who 
           was talking to Sr. G.  A subject pronoun will clarify the meaning. 
           Ella hablaba con el Sr. G.  -  She was talking to Sr. G. 
 

• Verbos Irregulares - El Imperfecto 
 
Infinitive - ser (to be) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      era Nosotros     éramos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     eras 
 

Vosotros      erais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      era 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            eran 
Ellas 
Uds.              

 
Infinitive - ir (to go) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      iba Nosotros     íbamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     ibas 
 

Vosotros      ibais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      iba 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            iban 
Ellas 
Uds.              

 
Infinitive - ver (to see) Singular Plural 
Primera persona 
 

Yo      veía Nosotros     veíamos 
Nosotras 

Segunda persona Tú     veías 
 

Vosotros      veíais 
Vosotras 

Tercera persona Él      veía 
Ella 
Ud. 

Ellos            veían 
Ellas 
Uds.              

 
• Note that there is an accent in the nosotros form of both “ser and ir” 

(éramos/íbamos) 
 
There was/there were = Había (nothing occurred) 
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• Usos del Imperfecto: 
 
 1. Used to do 

 
 Yo trabajaba en Madrid.  I used to work in Madrid. 
 Mi amigo y yo jugábamos al tenis.  My friend and I used to play  tennis. 

 
 2. Habitual actions (what you would do frequently-not just once) 
 

     Ella visitaba a su abuela a menudo.  She would visit her grandma 
 often. 
     Cada verano íbamos a Chile.  Every summer we would go to Chile. 
 
      3. Age 
 
 Cuando tenía diez años, yo vivía en Italia.  When I was ten, I used to 
        live in Italy. 
       Ella jugaba al fútbol cuando tenía 15 años.  She used to play soccer 
        when she was 15 years old. 
 
 4. Time 
 
 Eran las ocho cuando llegué.  It was 8:00 when I arrived. 
 Era la una cuando saliste.  It was 1:00 when you left. 
 
 5. Describing (persons, things, weather…) 
 
 Tu amigo era muy egoísta.  Your friend was very selfish. 
 Mi amigo estaba muy nervioso.  My friend was very nervous. 
 Las sillas eran viejas.  The chairs were old. 
 Cuando visitabas, siempre hacía frío.  When you visited, it was  always 
 cold. 
 
 6. Ongoing actions (was/were - ing) 
 
 Cuando llamaste, ella estudiaba. When you called, she was studying. 
 Cuando llegué, ellos comían.  When I arrived, they were eating. 
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• El Pretérito vs. El Imperfecto 
 
THE PRETERIT NARRATES: 
 
1.  a specific action in the past 
     
En 1990 mi familia fue a Colombia. 
In 1990 my family lived in Colombia. (1990-specific) 
     
Anoche me rompí la pierna en un partido de fútbol. 
Last night I broke my leg in a soccer game. (last night-specific) 
 
2. a series of completed actions 
     
Esta mañana me desperté, fui a la cocina y tomé un café. 
This morning I woke up, went to the kitchen and had a coffee. 
   
Anoche él llamó a José, salió y no volvió hasta la una de la mañana. 
Last night he called José, left and didn’t return until 1:00am. 
 
3. an action that occurred over a period of time for which  
    specific time limits or boundaries are set. 
     
Mi familia vivió en España por seis años. 
My family lived in Spain for 6 years. (6 years-specific time) 
     
Anoche ella estudió de las seis hasta las diez. 
Last night she studied from 6:00 until 10:00 (6:00-10:00-specific) 
 
4. an action that interrupts another ongoing action in the past - while 
something was going on (imperfect) something happened (preterit) 
 
Jorge llegó mientras yo comía.  Jorge arrived while I was eating. 
 
Él se cortó el dedo mientras cortaba el pan. He cut his finger while he was 
cutting the bread. 
 
Mientras = while 
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• Pretérito/Imperfecto - Verbos que cambian de significado  
 
 

Meaning changes with tense used  

In a few cases, two distinct English verbs are needed to express what Spanish 
can express by the use of the preterite or the imperfect of a given verb. Note that, 

in all of the following examples, the preterite expresses an action at either its 
beginning or ending point, while the imperfect expresses an ongoing condition. 

Verbs Preterite: 
Action 

Imperfect: 
Ongoing Condition 

conocer Conocí a mi mejor amigo en 1980.
I met (beginning of our friendship) my 
best friend in 1980. 

Conocía a mi mejor amigo en 1985. 
I knew (ongoing state) my best friend in 1985. 

pensar De repente yo pensé que él era 
inocente. 
It suddenly dawned on me (beginning of 
knowing) that he was innocent. 

Yo pensaba que él era inocente. 
I thought (ongoing opinion) that he was innocent. 

poder Pude dormir a pesar del ruido de 
la fiesta. 
I managed to sleep (action takes place) in 
spite of the noise from the party. 

Podía hacerlo pero no tuve ganas. 
I was able to (had the ability to) do it, but I didn't 
feel like it. 

no querer Me invitó al teatro pero no quise ir.
She invited me to the theater, but I 
refused to go (action-saying no-takes 
place). 

Me invitó al teatro pero no quería ir. 
She invited me to the theater, but I didn't want to 
go (ongoing mental state, no action implied). 

querer El vendedor quiso venderme 
seguros. 
The salesman tried to sell me insurance 
(action takes place). 

El vendedor quería venderme seguros. 
The salesman wanted to sell me insurance 
(mental state, no action implied). 

saber Elvira supo que Jaime estaba 
enfermo. 
Elvira found out (beginning of knowing) 
that Jaime was sick. 

Elvira sabía, que Jaime estaba enfermo. 
Elvira knew (ongoing awareness) that Jaime was 
sick. 

tener Tuve un accidente. 
I had (action takes place) an accident. 

Tenía varios amigos. 
I had (ongoing situation) several friends. 

tener que Tuve que ir a la oficina. 
I had to go (and did go) to the office. 

Tenía que ir a la oficina. 
I was supposed to go (mental state, no action)… 
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• Los Adjetivos y Pronombres Demostrativos 
(Demonstrative Adjectives and  Pronouns) 

 
• Demonstrative adjectives, like other adjectives, must agree in gender (masculine 

or feminine) and in number (singular or plural) 
 

Masculine 
 

Feminine Meaning 
 

 

SINGULAR 
 

PLURAL 
 

este libro 
 

estos libros 

esta mesa 
 

estas mesas 

this book/table 
 
these books/tables 

 
Masculine 

 
Feminine Meaning 

 

 

SINGULAR 
 

PLURAL 
 

ese libro 
 

esos libros 

esa mesa 
 

esas mesas 

that book/table 
 
those books/tables 

 
Masculine 

 
Feminine Meaning 

 

 

SINGULAR 
 

PLURAL 
 

aquel libro 
 

aquellos libros 

aquella mesa 
 

aquellas mesas 

that book/table 
 
those books/tables 
(far from the 
speaker) 

• Note that este, esta, estos and estas refer to what is near the speaker. 
 Ese, esa, esos and esas refer to what isn’t so near to the speaker.  
 Aquel, aquella, aquellos and aquellas is what is very far from the speaker. 
 
 
Recuerda - This and these have Ts; that and those don’t. 
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• Demonstrative pronouns, like other pronouns, agree with the nouns they replace in 
gender (masculine or feminine) and in number (singular or plural). 

• Demonstrative pronouns are distinguished from the demonstrative adjectives by an 
accent mark. 

 
 

 
Masculine 

 
Feminine Meaning 

 
 

éste 

éstos 

 

ése 

ésos 

 

aquél 

aquéllos 

 

 

ésta 

éstas 

 

ésa 

ésas 

 

aquélla 

aquéllas 

 

this (one) 

these 

 

that (one) 

those 

 

that (one) 

those 

 
Me gusta esta chaqueta, pero no me gusta ésa. 
I like this jacket, but I don’t like that one. 
 
Quisiera estas plumas y ésas. 
I would like these pens and those. 
 

• Note that the demonstrative adjective esta in the first sentence is followed by 
the noun it refers to (chaqueta).  The demonstrative pronoun ésa is not 
followed by a noun.  In the first sentence, ésa refers to the jacket. In the 
second sentence, what does ésas refer to?  _______________ 
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• Los Comparativos  (Comparatives) 
 

• Comparativos de igualdad (Equal comparisons) 
 
 1. Adjectives and Adverbs.  Below is the formula for comparing 
  adjectives and adverbs. 
 

 
tan  +   ADJECTIVE/ADVERB  +   como 

            (as)                                                  (as) 
 

 
 Examples: 
 
 El Sr. G. es tan fuerte como Arnold Schwarznegger. 
 Sr G. is as strong as Arnold Schwarznegger. 
 
 Nosotras corremos tan rápidamente como los chicos. 
 We (the girls) run as quickly as the guys. 
 
 Mis primos son tan altos como Uds. 
 My cousins are as tall as you (pl.) 
 
 Yo trabajo tan ambiciosamente como tú. 
 I work as ambitiously as you. 
 

• Note that in the sentence “Mis primos son tan altos como Uds.” since altos is 
describing “mis primos” it must agree (plural) 
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 2. Nouns.  The following words are used when you express that a 
  person(s) has as many/much of something as someone else. 
 
  

 
tanto/tanta (as much) 
                                            +   NOUN   + como 
tantos/tantas (as many) 
 

 
 Examples: 
 
 Yo tengo tanto dinero como Bill Gates. 
 I have as much money as Bill Gates. 
         AS MUCH…AS 
 Ella hace tanta tarea como yo. 
 She does as much homework as I do. 
 
 Él tiene tantos videojuegos como yo. 
 He has as many video games as I do. 
         AS MANY…AS 
 Ella tiene tantas amigas como su hermana. 
 She has as many friends as her sister. 
 

• Note that tanto, tanta, tantos, y tantas must agree with the noun that follows. 
 (tanto dinero, tanta tarea, tantos videojuegos, tantas amigas) 

 
 3. Verbs  Below is the formula for comparing verbs. 
 

VERB   +   tanto como 
                           (as much as) 

 
 Examples: 
 
 Yo trabajo tanto como tú.  I work as much as you. 

 Nadie estudia tanto como ella. No one studies as much as she does. 

 Uds. nadan tanto como Tarzan. You all swim as much as Tarzan. 
• Note that tanto como does not change. It always remains tanto como. 
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• Comparativos de desigualdad (Unequal comparisons) 
 

 
más                more                  menos                 less 

 
 

• By combining one of these words with an adjective, an adverb or a 
noun, you will be able to compare two or more persons/things. 

 
• Note that in English we often use on word to express more/less + adjective… 
Examples: más alto = taller,  más inteligente = smarter,  más fuerte = stronger… 
 
Below is the formula for expressing unequal comparisons. 
 

 
SUBJECT  +  VERB  +  más/menos  + ADJECTIVE  + QUE  +  NOUN 
                                      (more/less)         ADVERB       (than)     PRONOUN 
                                                                   NOUN 
 

 
  Examples: 
 
Tom Cruise es más bajo que Keanu Reeves. 
Tom Cruise is shorter than Keanu Reeves. 
 
Esta prueba es más difícil que la prueba de la semana pasada. 
This quiz is more difficult than last week’s quiz. 
 
Él corre menos rápidamente que ella. 
He runs slower than she does. 
 
Marcos tiene más amigos que yo. 
Marcos has more friends than I do. 
 

• Note that “que” means “than” when used in a comparative sentence that 
expresses an unequal comparison. 

 
 

• When comparing how frequently someone does something, 
(MORE/LESS THAN) you can use the following formula: 
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SUBJECT + VERB + más/menos que + NOUN/PRONOUN 

 
  
 Examples: 
 
 María baila más que Luisa.  María dances more than Luisa. 
 
 Tú estudias menos que yo.  You study less than I do. 
  
 

• When a number follows an unequal comparison “que” is replaced by 
“de”. 

 
 Examples: 
 
 Mi amigo tiene más de 5 coches.  My friend has more than 5 cars. 
 
 Bill Gates tiene menos de 8 casas. Bill Gates has less than 8 houses.  
 

• There are four adjectives that have irregular comparative forms. 
 
 
grande              mayor (older)                       bueno            mejor (better) 
 
pequeño             menor (younger)                malo            peor (worse) 
 
 
 Example:  
 
 Mi hermano es mayor que yo.  My brother is older than I am. 
 
 Bocelli canta mejor que el Sr. G.  Bocelli sings better than Sr. G. 
 
 Mi papa es menor que mi prof.   My dad is younger than my prof. 
 
 Tú juegas peor que yo.         You play worse than I do. 
 

• Note that it is ok to say “más grande” and “más pequeño” when referring to size, 
not age.  It is not ok to say “más bueno” or “más malo”, but you may hear them. 
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• El Superlativo (The Superlative) 
 

• The superlative is a form of an adjective or adverb that indicates that 
the quality described is the most/least “intense” of the group.  Use the 
following formula when describing the “most/least” …  

 
 

el / la / los / las  +  NOUN  +  más/menos  +  ADJECTIVE/ADVERB 
                (the)                               (most/least)  
 
 
 Examples: 
 
 Juan es el más cómico de la clase. Juan is the funniest in the class. 
 
 Ella es la estudiante menos atlética de la escuela. 
 She is the least athletic student in school. 
 
 Nosotros somos los más simpáticos de la clase. 
 We are the nicest in class. 
 

• Note that “de” is added after the superlative to express the most/least in a group. 
 

• The Absolute Superlative 
 

• To express an absolute superlative (no comparisons involved) add 
ísimo, ísima, ísimos, ísimas to adjectives. If the adjective ends in a 
vowel, eliminate the last vowel before adding ísimo…  (alto > altísimo, 
bella > bellísima…) The meaning is the same as muy + adjective. 

 
 Examples: 
 
 Yolanda es popularísima.  Yolanda is very popular. 
 
 Bill Gates es riquísimo.  Bill Gates is very rich. 
 
 Estos días son larguísimos.  These days are very long. 
 

Note that if the adjective ends in “co”, “go” or “z” you change the ending to 
quísimo, guísimo, císimo. (rico > riquísimo,  larga > larguísima, feliz > felicísimo) 


